FILED

No. 331717

JAN 07 201%

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent,

vs.

MAHADI ALJAFFAR

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN CROWLEY WSBA No. 19868 Attorney for Appellant 216 FIRST AVENUE SOUTH Seattle, Washington 98127 Tel: (206) 625-7500 Fax:(206) 625-1223

December 30, 2015

I.	IDENTITY OF APPELLANT iii
II.	ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR iii
	A. Mr. Aljaffar was denied his 6 th amendment right to face his accuser and to be present at his own trial when the trial court, over his objection, permitted a non-certified Arabic interpreter to interpret the proceedings in violation of RCW 2.43.030
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1
IV.	ARGUMENT 3
	1. MR. ALJAFFAR'S 6 TH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BOTH CONFRONT WITNESSES AND BE PRESENT AT HIS OWN TRIAL WERE VIOLATED UNDER BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT'S ERRONEOUS APPROVAL OF A NON-CERTIFIED COURT INTERPRETER3
V.	CONCLUSION 14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page <u>Table of Cases</u>
United States Constitution
6 th amendment
Washington State Cases
<u>State v. Gonzales Morales.</u> 138 Wn.2d 374, 374, 379, 381, 979 P.2d 826 (1999)3,7
<u>State v. Lakilado.</u> 167 Wn. App. 1015, (Div. 1)(2012)4
<u>State v. Teshome.</u> 122 Wn. App. 705, 711, 94 P.3d 1004 (2004)3,4
Washington State Statutes
RCW 2.43.0303,5,9,12
RCW 2.43.030(1)(b)(i)4,6
RCW 2.43.030(2)9,10
RCW 2.43.030 (2)(a)7
RCW 2.43.030 (2)(b)7
RCW 2.43.0504

I. <u>IDENTITY OF THE APPELANT</u>

Mahadi Aljaffar is the Appellant in this cause.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. Mr. Aljaffar was denied his 6th amendment right to face his accuser and to be present at his own trial when the trial court, over his objection, permitted a non-certified Arabic interpreter to interpret the proceedings in violation of RCW 2.43.030.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 4, 2014, a jury found Mr. Mahadi Aljaffar guilty of the following charges after, and over the defendant's objection, a non-certified court interpreter was permitted to interpret the case for the appellant: Two counts of indecent liberties by forcible compulsion and one count of unlawful imprisonment (RP 273-274). The jury found Mr. Aljaffar not guilty of one count of voyeurism and was "hung" on the second count of unlawful imprisonment (RP 274).

On the first day of trial, a discussion arose on the record over an issue where the court and ultimately Mr. Aljaffar were without a certified court interpreter. A discussion about that issue was then thoroughly addressed by the court. Prior to the actual commencement of trial, the court ordered that a *court certified* interpreter be obtained for the trial as Arabic was Mr. Aljaffar's native language (RP 5-6).

The State argued to the court without any evidence in the record whatsoever that a non-certified court interpreter, who was present in the courtroom on the first day of trial, was competent and requested that the Court qualify that interpreter and then use that same non-certified interpreter at trial. (RP 4-13).

The State justified its advocating the use of the noncertified interpreter, a Mr. Beirouty, by stating without any evidence whatsoever in the record:

"Spokane County does not have a court-certified Arabic language interpreter. They have a contract with an individual who is a court certified Arabic interpreter, however, that individual is on the west side of the state. So logistically it is difficult to have that person here. Further, that person would not have been available to proceed with interpretation at the start of this trial, which was set for December 1st" (RP 5).

The defense then objected to use of the prosecution's proposed non-certified interpreter (RP 6, LN 25). Over the defendant's objection and without any effort to find any facts to support a good cause finding for the use of a non-certified interpreter, the Court then allowed the non-certified interpreter to interpret the entire judicial proceedings and trial for Mr. Aljaffar. (RP 13-14). Confusion with the language of the interpretation later became apparent in the record. (*See, for example* RP 171). Mr. Aljaffar's conviction ultimately followed.

IV. ARGUMENT

2. MR. ALJAFFAR'S 6TH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BOTH CONFRONT WITNESSES AND BE PRESENT AT HIS OWN TRIAL WERE VIOLATED UNDER BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT'S ERRONEOUS APPROVAL OF A NON-CERTIFIED COURT INTERPRETER.

In Washington, a defendant has a constitutional right to a competent interpreter. State v. Teshome, 122 Wn. App. 705, 711, 94 P.3d 1004 (2004). This right is based on ""the Sixth amendment constitutional right to confront witnesses and the right inherent in a fair trial to be present at one's own trial." Id. at 709-10 (quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wn.2d 374, 379, 979 P.2d 826 (1999)). "The appointment of an interpreter is a matter within the discretion of the trial court to be disturbed only upon a showing of abuse [of discretion]." State v. Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wn.2d 374, 381, 979 P.2d 826 (1999).

The legislature has codified these rights, in part, in chapter 2.43 RCW. Every non-English-speaking person in a legal proceeding is entitled to the services of a court-appointed, qualified interpreter. RCW 2.43.030. The interpreter must abide by the code of ethics and take an oath to interpret the person's statements "to the best of the interpreter's skill and judgment." RCW 2.43.050 (Italics and bold added).

Good cause to excuse the burden placed upon the court for the mandatory use of a certified interpreter may be, for example, that no certified interpreter is reasonably available (not the case here as an Arabic interpreter was presumably under contract with the Spokane County Superior Court) (RP 5)). RCW 2.43.030(1)(b)(i). State v. Lakilado 167 Wn. App. 1015, (Div. 1)(2012).

As indicated in *Lakilado*, the controlling statute for the use of and subsequent judicial appointment of an interpreter in Washington state is *RCW 2.43.030*. It states the following:

- "(1) Whenever an interpreter is appointed to assist a non-Englishspeaking person in a legal proceeding, the appointing authority shall, in the absence of a written waiver by the person, appoint a certified or a qualified interpreter to assist the person throughout the proceedings.
- (a) Except as otherwise provided for in (b) of this subsection, the interpreter appointed shall be a qualified interpreter.
- (b) Beginning July 1, 1990, when a non-English-speaking person is a party to a legal proceeding, or is subpoenaed or summoned by an appointing authority or is otherwise compelled by an appointing authority to appear at a legal proceeding, the appointing authority shall use the services of only those language interpreters who have been certified by the administrative office of the courts, unless good cause is found [].

For purposes of Chapter 358, Laws of 1989, "good cause" includes but is not limited to a determination that:

(i) Given the totality of the circumstances, including the nature of the proceeding and the potential penalty or consequences involved, the services of a certified

interpreter are not reasonably available to the appointing authority; or

- (ii) The current list of certified interpreters maintained by the administrative office of the courts does not include an interpreter certified in the language spoken by the non-English-speaking person.
- (c) Except as otherwise provided in this section, when a non-English-speaking person is involved in a legal proceeding, the appointing authority shall appoint a qualified interpreter.
- (2) If good cause is found for using an interpreter who is not certified or if a qualified interpreter is appointed, the appointing authority shall make a preliminary determination, on the basis of testimony or stated needs of the non-English-speaking person, that the proposed interpreter is able to interpret accurately all communications to and from such person in that particular proceeding. The appointing authority shall satisfy itself on the record that the proposed interpreter:
 - (a) Is capable of communicating effectively with the court or agency and the person for whom the interpreter would interpret; and
 - (b) Has read, understands, and will abide by the code of ethics for language interpreters established by court rules" RCW 2.43.030,

Unfortunately, and in Mr. Aljaffar's case, the presiding judge who made the decision to allow a non-certified interpreter did not make an informative good cause inquiry on the record at all. (RP 13-16). In his ruling, the judge stated the following:

"THE COURT: All right. As I understand the rule and the law, that if someone is not certified, it is required that the Court qualify the proposed interpreter as an expert. And if the Court qualifies someone as the expert, then to administer an oath to them. I apologize. I think based upon my conversation with this gentleman I believe he is sufficiently qualified to be an interpreter in this matter. He is willing to undertake the role. He has done it in the past in the legal setting. And he understands that he is a neutral

party and he -- as he indicated, he understands his role and he has no relation to the defendant outside of this process. I think he is sufficiently qualified to interpret in this case. Having said that, I just need to administer the oath. Then I think once we do that, we're okay; we can proceed" (RP 13-14).

At no time did the trial court in any way address the "the totality of the circumstances, including the nature of the proceeding and the potential penalty or consequences involved, as directed by *R.C.W.*2.43.030. (RP 13-16). Nowhere does the record indicate that the services of a certified interpreter were not reasonably available to the appointing authority," as directed by (1)(b)(i) of *RCW*2.43.030. (RP 13-16).

The record does not indicate as to what "logistical" difficulty prevented the use of a certified interpreter, as was claimed by, but without supporting evidence of the prosecution, would be involved in securing the services of the certified Arabic interpreter that was apparently under contract with Spokane County Superior Court. (RP 5).

The record is absent any showing that the certified Arabic Interpreter under contract by Spokane County could not be available within a reasonable time from the scheduled day for trial to commence. (RP 5-16). As important to our Supreme Court in State v. Gonzales- Morales, 138 Wn.2d 374, 381, 979 P.2d 826 (1999) and citing RCW 2.43.030, Mr. Aljaffar's trial court did not make any effort to determine "on the basis of testimony or stated"

needs of the non-English- speaking person, that the proposed interpreter was able to interpret accurately all communications to and from such person in that particular proceeding. (RP 5-16) nor that the proposed non-certified interpreter had read, understood, or would abide by the code of ethics for language interpreters established by court rules as is also required. *RCW 2.43.030 (2)(a) and (b)*.

As discussed above, the state prosecutor made only the following statement, albeit unsupported by any evidence in the record to support that statement, that some reason existed for the use of a non-certified court interpreter:

"Spokane County does not have a court-certified Arabic language interpreter. They have a contract with an individual who is a court-certified Arabic interpreter, however, that individual is on the west side of the state. So logistically it is difficult to have that person here. Further, that person would not have been available to proceed with interpretation at the start of this trial, which was set for December 1st" (RP 5).

Even if the Court had accepted the State's argument, and the record does not indicate that the trial court so accepted that argument, such a finding would not suffice and should not be considered a viable reason to find good cause. That is because, as the State advised the trial Court but without any factual support from the record, Spokane County did have under contract an Arabic speaking Court certified interpreter from Western Washington (RP 5).

Spokane County, of course, had undoubtedly contracted with that interpreter, referenced at RP 5, so that defendant's like Mr. Aljaffar could have both their Federal and State constitutional rights of due process and 6th amendment right to confront witnesses and be present at their own trial upheld by their being able to actually understand the testimony and evidence being presented against them.

If in fact, and there is nothing other than the prosecutor's statement to support this assertion, the west-side Arabic interpreter "would not have been available to start trial" (See, RP 5) the trial court could have either simply recessed the proceedings until the interpreter could appear or briefly continue the trial date on its own motion as ample "speedy trial" time was available.

The true problem here was that there was actually not a problem at all in finding and using an Arabic court certified interpreter. As the prosecutor so stated, *logistically it [would be]* difficult to have that person here. (RP 5).

An alternative to using the state certified Arabic interpreter would have been for the trial court to have followed *RCW 2.43.030* and make a record that there was good cause to use the non-certified interpreter if, after taking testimony and considering the needs of Mr. Aljaffar, that Mr. Aljaffar was able to understand the

non-certified interpreter so as to qualify Mr. Beirouty properly. For example, Section 2 of RCW 2.43.030, states that:

"If good cause is found for using an interpreter who is not certified or if a qualified interpreter is appointed, the appointing authority shall make a preliminary determination, on the basis of testimony or stated needs of the non-English-speaking person, that the proposed interpreter is able to interpret accurately all communications to and from such person in that particular proceeding" (RCW 2.43.030(2) Emphasis added).

Under RCW 2.43.030(2), the Court was required to make such a determination based on the "testimony or needs of the non-English speaking person" (RCW 2.43.030(2)). However, the only record made with regard to Mr. Aljaffar's needs came when only the interpreter, and not Mr. Aljaffar, was very broadly questioned by the Court, and where the Court asked the prospective interpreter:

"The Court: And is Mr. Aljaffar indicating that he is

understanding you?

Mr. Beirouty: Yes sir" (RP 11).

The Court, of course, should have next inquired of Mr. Aljaffar, as is also required by RCW 2.43.030 (2), whether he could understand the proceedings. A colloquy with Mr. Aljaffar could have been enlightening as to how much Mr. Aljaffar was able to understand from his non-certified court interpreter; as opposed to the interpreter being colloquied, and one collateral question that was

more of an aside being asked by the Court with regard to Mr.

Aljaffar's ability to understand the non-certified interpreter.

The record demonstrates there was apparent and substantial difficulty with regard to Mr. Aljaffar understanding the non-certified interpreter when, for example, Mr. Aljaffar was being cross examined by the prosecution, such as this exchange:

Prosecutor: What identification did you use to get inside the bar?

Mr. Beiriuty: He answered a different answer, and I will try and rephrase that question again (RP 160, LN 5-8).

Whether Mr. Aljaffar's response to the prosecution's question was "he answered a different answer" as stated by Mr. Beiriuty, is not relevant to the translation. This is true unless, of course, Mr. Aljaffar's response to the prosecution's question "he answered a different answer and I will try and rephrase that question again" was Mr. Aljaffar's actual reply to the prosecution's question.

Yet there were other apparently confusing exchanges, for example:

Prosecutor: So why did you wait in the female's restroom?

Mr. Beirouty: I felt dizzy. And I needed to get some water.

Prosecutor: Why didn't you go to the other stall? **Mr. Beirouty:** He didn't feel comfortable.

(RP 171). This translation indicates that Mr. Alhaffar was answering the prosecution's questions in the third person; a highly

unlikely scenario. More confusion followed, however:

Prosecutor: You didn't feel comfortable about going

to the unoccupied stall?

Mr. Beirouty: He is -- The way he answer, he's

confusing the men's bathroom from the ladies' bathroom.

I'm going to explain to him what you mean.

(Discussion held off the record) (RP 171, LN 12-17).

The above actually indicates the great confusion the interpreter was having in understanding his own role as the interpreter. He appeared to be answering the questions more like a witness than an interpreter for Mr. Aljaffar.

And then there was this confusing exchange:

Prosecutor: But isn't it true that security wasn't

aware that that had taken place yet?

Mr. Beirouty: He didn't understand the question

(RP 177, LN1-3).

Here, the interpreter is again answering the questions as a witness.

And finally this exchange:

Prosecutor: You weren't detained outside of the

restroom?

Mr. Beirouty: They took him out to the street and

they called the police.

Another example of third person translation. (RP 187).

Prosecutor: Okay. But isn't it true that you were

detained outside of the women's bathroom?

Mr. Beiriuty: They took him outside.

Prosecutor: The question, sir, is, you were

detained outside of the women's restroom; correct?

Mr. Beirouty: He said outside. He answered many

times.

The above is another example of the interpreter answering in the

third person and then interpreting for Mr. Aljaffar more as a witness. (RP 187).

Prosecutor: When you were detained by security, were you still inside the bar or were you detained outside the bar?

Mr. Beirouty: Outside.

Prosecutor: So you were on -- in the process of

leaving the bar?

Mr. Beirouty: No. They took him by force outside the

bar, and they detained him until the police came.

Prosecutor: You weren't detained --

The above demonstrates that Mr. Aljaffar was answering in the third person again. (RP 187-189).

As is demonstrated in the above cited portions of the transcripts, there was significant confusion due to the language barrier with the non-certified interpreter for Mr. Aljaffar during cross-examination. However, and to some extent because the court did not inquire of Mr. Aljaffar as is required by *RCW 2.43.030*, the Court of Appeals is now left to speculate as to how much Mr. Aljaffar understood when he was sitting at the defense table observing the trial and listening and trying to understand his accusers through his non-certified interpreter.

Mr. Aljaffar stated the following on direct examination with regard to his limited skills as an English language speaker:

Defense: Did you learn any English before you came into the United States?

Mr. Aljaffar Like A, B, C, D; like, letters.

Defense: So aside from basic characters of the English language, when you arrived 15 months ago, you didn't understand any English; correct?

Mr. Aljaffar: Yeah. Almost like that." (RP 146, LN 1-6).

The exchanges cited above further demonstrate why *RCW* 2.03.030 proscribes a process for vetting court interpreters.

Understandably, Mr. Aljaffar now believes he was denied his constitutional right to due process and 6th amendment right to face his accusers was compromised due to the use of the non-certified interpreter. This error of the trial court inhibited the communication between defense counsel and Mr. Aljaffar during the trial and limited Mr. Aljaffar's own observations of his trial which were made in a foreign language.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Aljaffar respectfully requests the Court to rule that the trial Court abused its discretion by not finding good cause to use a non-certified interpreter, and that the trial court improperly qualified the non-certified interpreter. Mr. Aljaffar is requesting that based on these errors, he was denied his right to due process and his 6th amendment right to confront his accusers and be present at his own trial, both under both the State and Federal constitutions, and that he should be given a new trial because of that error.

John Rodney Crowley, WSBA No. 19868

Attorney for Appellant