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

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THE DEFENDANT, ALLEGING FOR THE FIRST TIME 

ON APPEAL THAT THE INTERPRETER WAS NOT 

COMPETENT AT THE TIME OF TRIAL, HAS NOT 

DEMONSTRATED A MANIFEST ERROR AFFECTING A 

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT UNDER RAP 2.5(A)(3).  

Here, the defendant and his trial counsel failed to voice any 

objection or concern regarding the interpreter’s competency to interpret 

during the trial or after trial. Accordingly, the defendant has failed to 

preserve the issue for appeal. 

Standard of review regarding claims not raised in the trial court. 

RAP 2.5(a) provides that an appellate court “will not review any 

claim of error that was not raised in the trial court.” State v. Strine, 

176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013); State v. Lazcano, 188 Wn. 

App. 338, 355, 354 P.3d 233, as amended on reconsideration in part 

(2015). “The underlying policy of the rule is to ‘encourag[e] the efficient 

use of judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party’s 

failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the 

opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a 

consequent new trial.’” State v. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 

(2009), as corrected (Jan. 21, 2010) (alteration in original), citing State v. 

Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Stated differently, 
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“[T]here is great potential for abuse when a party does not object because 

‘[a] party so situated could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to 

avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new 

trial on appeal.’” State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271-72, 149 P.3d 646 

(2006) (alteration in original). 

Argument. 

1. The defendant’s general objection to using a non-certified 

interpreter was not sufficient to preserve the purported 

competency error for appeal. 

In the present case, there was no objection or criticism posed by 

either the defendant or his lawyer during or after trial as to any inadequacy 

in the interpreter’s ability. The defendant and defense attorney were in the 

best position to bring any perceived extant flaws in the interpretation or 

ability of the interpreter to the trial court’s attention at the time of trial, or 

afterward.  

With regard to objections, it has long been the rule in this state that 

a general objection which does not specify the particular ground upon 

which it is based is insufficient to preserve the question for appellate 

review. State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 488, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). As 

stated by our Supreme Court in State v. Boast, 87 Wn.2d 447, 451, 

553 P.2d 1322 (1976): 

When an objection is so indefinite as not to call the court’s 

attention to the real reason for the testimony’s 
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inadmissibility, error may not be based upon the overruling 

of the objection. Coleman v. Montgomery, 19 Wash. 610, 

53 P. 1102 (1898). An assignment of error as to the 

admission of evidence upon a certain ground cannot be 

made where no objection to the testimony was made on that 

ground. State v. Poole, 42 Wash. 192, 84 P. 727 (1906). 

Objection to evidence can be made in this court only upon 

the specific ground of the objection. Bolster v. Stocks, 

13 Wash. 460, 43 P. 532, 534, 1099 (1896). 

Accordingly, “[o]bjections must be accompanied by a reasonably 

definite statement of the grounds therefore so that the judge may 

understand the question raised and the adversary may be afforded an 

opportunity to remedy the claimed defect.” Presnell v. Safeway Stores, 

Inc., 60 Wn.2d 671, 675, 374 P.2d 939 (1962). In the same context, it is 

well established that: 

[i]f a specific objection is overruled and the evidence in 

question is admitted, the appellate court will not reverse on 

the basis that the evidence should have been excluded 

under a different rule which could have been, but was not, 

argued at trial. 

 

State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 719, 718 P.2d 407 (1986), cert. denied, 479 

U.S. 995 (1986), overruled on other grounds by State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 

641, 645-47, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). 

In the present case, the defendant seemingly conflates 

“certification” and “competency.”
4
 Here, a general objection by the 

                                                 
4
 An interpreter could be certified, but incompetent, or he or she 

could be competent, but not certified. Here, the defendant objected to 

using a non-certified interpreter, but failed to raise an objection or argue 

the interpreter was not qualified at trial. A general objection to translator 

competence may be sufficient to preserve the issue on appeal if it 
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defense to the trial court’s use of a non-certified Arabic interpreter, voiced 

at the pretrial hearing, was insufficient to preserve his objection to the trial 

court’s ruling that the interpreter was qualified to interpret. More 

specifically, after making his general objection at the pretrial hearing to 

the use of a non-certified Arabic interpreter, and then deferring to the trial 

court on the matter (tacitly waiving any objection), the defendant failed to 

voice an objection after the trial court heard testimony from the interpreter 

and qualified him to interpret the proceedings. Moreover, during trial, the 

defendant failed to object or bring to the court’s attention any claimed 

shortfall regarding the interpreter’s abilities. 

Certainly, if there was a basis in fact to allege faulty translations at 

trial, as claimed by the defendant’s counsel on appeal, it surely would be 

expected and incumbent upon both the defendant and his lawyer to have 

contemporaneously brought the issue to the attention of the trial court. 

                                                                                                                         

represents a good faith effort by defense counsel to address perceived 

translation problems. United States v. Urena, 27 F.3d 1487, 1492 (10
th

 Cir. 

1994); United States v. Paz, 981 F.2d 199, 201 (5th Cir. 1992), cert. 

denied, 508 U.S. 924 (1993); United States v. Moya–Gomez, 860 F.2d 

706, 740 (7th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 492 U.S. 908 (1989). However, in 

the present case, the defendant did not make a general or a specific 

objection at trial. He now attempts to argue that since the interpreter was 

not certified by the court, by analogy, the interpreter was therefore not 

qualified to interpret at trial. This argument is contrary to 

RCW 2.43.030(1), infra, and established case law. 
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Consequently, the defense’s failure to object at trial, and apparent 

concession, should preclude review of the claimed error on appeal under 

RAP 2.5. “A reviewing court is unlikely to find that a defendant received a 

fundamentally unfair trial due to an inadequate translation in the absence 

of contemporaneous objections to the quality of the interpretation.” United 

States v. Joshi, 896 F.2d 1303, 1310 (11th Cir. 1990); Valladares v. 

United States, 871 F.2d 1564, 1566 n. 2 (11th Cir. 1989).
5
 As the Eleventh 

Circuit has observed: 

Only if the defendant makes any difficulty with the 

interpreter known to the court can the judge take corrective 

measures. To allow a defendant to remain silent throughout 

the trial and then, upon being found guilty, to assert a 

claim of inadequate translation would be an open invitation 

to abuse. 

 

Valladares, 871 F.2d at 1566. 

 

2. The defendant has neither argued nor established a manifest 

constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a)(3). That rule requires a 

plausible showing that the asserted error had practical and 

identifiable consequences in the trial. 

To establish that an alleged unpreserved constitutional error is 

reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3), the defendant must establish that the 

error is “manifest.” Here, error, if any, relating to the interpreter’s 

                                                 
5
 See also United States v. Bennett, 848 F.2d 1134, 1141 (11th Cir. 

1988); United States v. Lim, 794 F.2d 469, 471 (9th Cir. 1986), 

cert. denied, 479 U.S. 937 (1986); United States v. Tapia, 631 F.2d 1207 

(5th Cir. 1980); United States v. Martinez, 616 F.2d 185, 187–88 (5th Cir. 

1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 994 (1981). 
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competence at trial is not manifest or obvious, as required by RAP 2.5.
6
 

Manifest error requires a showing of actual prejudice. State v. McFarland, 

127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). An error is “manifest” if it 

had “practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case.” State 

v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). And “[i]n normal 

usage, ‘manifest’ means unmistakable, evident or indisputable, as distinct 

from obscure, hidden or concealed.” Id. A defendant must then show how, 

in the context of the entire trial, any claimed error actually affected his or 

her rights. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). 

In order to ensure the actual prejudice and harmless error 

analyses are separate, the focus of the actual prejudice must 

be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the 

error warrants appellate review. See [City of Seattle v.] 

Harclaon, 56 Wn.2d [596], [] 597, 354 P.2d 928 [1960]; 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333, 899 P.2d 1251. It is not the 

role of an appellate court on direct appeal to address claims 

where the trial court could not have foreseen the potential 

error or where the prosecutor or trial counsel could have 

been justified in their actions or failure to object. Thus, to 

determine whether an error is practical and identifiable, the 

appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial 

court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew 

at that time, the court could have corrected the error. 

 

State v. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100 (footnote omitted).  

                                                 
6
 Our courts have indicated that “the constitutional error exception is 

not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials 

whenever they can ‘identify a constitutional issue not litigated below.’” 

Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 687. 
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The defendant does not argue manifest error in his brief. His 

argument assumes error occurred with respect to interpreter. There is 

nothing in defendant’s claim or in the record, as discussed below, which 

would constitute any error, let alone, manifest error. Defendant’s alleged 

error is not plain and indisputable, or so apparent on review that it 

amounts to a complete disregard of the controlling law or the credible 

evidence in the record, such that the judge hearing the case should have 

clearly corrected any alleged error at trial.
7
  

The failure to object or identify any actual prejudice from the use 

of the qualified interpreter at trial precludes review of the defendant’s 

claim of error under RAP 2.5. Moreover, the defendant has not argued or 

identified any obvious error as required under RAP 2.5(3). This Court 

should not consider the defendant’s unpreserved claim and deny review. 

                                                 
7
 If an error of constitutional magnitude is manifest, it may 

nevertheless be harmless. State v. Gordon, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 

884 (2011). The State has the burden of showing an error of constitutional 

magnitude is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 

386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). 
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B. IF THIS COURT FINDS THE DEFENDANT PRESERVED 

THE ISSUE OF ALLEGED INTERPRETER 

INCOMPETENCE, HE FAILS TO IDENTIFY ANY 

PREJUDICE OR CONSEQUENCE IN THE QUALITY OF 

TRANSLATION AT THE TIME OF TRIAL.  

Standard of review. 

The appointment of an interpreter is a matter within the discretion 

of the trial court to be disturbed only upon a showing of abuse. State v. 

Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wn.2d 374, 381, 979 P.2d 826 (1999). 

Washington has not adopted a standard of review on whether an 

interpreter is qualified. Instead, courts have used various federal court 

standards. See, State v. Ramirez-Dominguez, 140 Wn. App. 233, 244, 

165 P.3d 391 (2007); State v. Teshome, 122 Wn. App. 705, 712, 94 P.3d 

1004 (2004), review denied, 153 Wn.2d 1028 (2005). 

The Ninth Circuit has identified three types of evidence which may 

establish an incompetent translation on review. 

First, direct evidence of incorrectly translated words is 

persuasive evidence of an incompetent translation. Second, 

unresponsive answers by the witness provide circumstantial 

evidence of translation problems. A third indicator of an 

incompetent translation is the witness’s expression of 

difficulty understanding what is said to him. 

Perez-Lastor v. I.N.S., 208 F.3d 773, 778 (9th Cir. 2000) (citations and 

case examples omitted).
8
 

                                                 
8
 The Teshome court distinguished Perez–Lastor stating: “[T]he 

standard for competence should relate to whether the rights of non-English 

speakers are protected, rather than whether the interpreting is or is not 

egregiously poor.” Id. at 712. 
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 If one or several of these factors are present establishing interpreter 

incompetence, the appellate court then looks to whether the inadequate 

translation prejudiced the outcome of the proceeding, i.e., whether a better 

translation would have made a difference in the outcome. Perez-Lastor, 

208 F.3d at 780. The Ninth Circuit noted this “[s]tandard is onerous, but 

not insurmountable,” citing several examples. Id. at 773. 

 In Washington, the right of a criminal defendant to an interpreter is 

based upon the Sixth Amendment constitutional right to confront 

witnesses and the “right inherent in a fair trial to be present at one’s own 

trial.” Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wn.2d  at 379. 

When a non-English-speaking person is a party to a legal 

proceeding, a “certified” interpreter must be appointed unless good cause
9
 

                                                 
9
  Here, both counsel represented to the court the difficulty in 

finding a certified Arabic interpreter for trial. After counsel made these 

representations to the court, and in making its ruling regarding the use of 

Mr. Beirouty, the trial court analyzed the requirements of RCW 2.43.030, 

the interpreter statute, on the record, finding the interpreter qualified. Any 

failure to mention the phrase “good cause” on the record was harmless 

error. See State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (error 

is not prejudicial unless within reasonable probabilities there is a 

substantial likelihood that the outcome of the trial was materially 

affected); State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264-65, 893 P.2d 615 (1995) 

(where the trial court did not explicitly weigh the probative value of prior 

misconduct evidence against its prejudicial effect, but admitted only some 

evidence of the defendant’s prior acts while excluding evidence of the acts 

that were most inflammatory, our Supreme Court concluded that the 

record as a whole demonstrated that the trial court had fulfilled the 

requirements of the rule); State v. Norlin, 134 Wn.2d 570, 582, 951 P.2d 
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is shown. RCW 2.43.030(1)(b); State v. Serrano, 95 Wn. App. 700, 704, 

977 P.2d 47 (1999).
10

 RCW 2.43.030 states: 

(1) Whenever an interpreter is appointed to assist a non-

English-speaking person in a legal proceeding, the 

appointing authority shall, in the absence of a written 

waiver by the person, appoint a certified or a qualified 

interpreter to assist the person throughout the 

proceedings.
11

 

 

(a) Except as otherwise provided for in (b) of this 

subsection, the interpreter appointed shall be a qualified 

interpreter. 

 

(b) Beginning on July 1, 1990, when a non-English-

speaking person is a party to a legal proceeding, or is 

subpoenaed or summoned by an appointing authority or 

                                                                                                                         

1131 (1998) (if the record reflects that the trial court gave thoughtful 

consideration to the prejudicial impact of the evidence, an appellate court 

may affirm on any basis supported by the record). 

 
10

 Defendant’s appellate counsel relies on and cites an unpublished 

opinion, State v. Lakilado, 167 Wn. App. 1015 (2012), regarding the use 

of a qualified interpreter. See Def. Br. at 4. GR 14.1(a) prohibits a party 

from citing as authority an unpublished opinion of the court of appeals. 

State v. Nysta, 168 Wn. App. 30, 44, 275 P.3d 1162 (2012), review denied, 

177 Wn.2d 1008 (2013) (“[n]o matter how well reasoned, unpublished 

opinions of the court of appeals lack precedential value, in part, because 

they merely restate well established principles”); Skamania Cty. v. 

Woodall, 104 Wn. App. 525, 536 n. 11, 16 P.3d 701 (2001) 

(“[u]npublished opinions have no precedential value and should not be 

cited or relied upon in any manner”). 

 
11

 A “certified interpreter” is one who is certified by the office of the 

administrator for the courts. RCW 2.43.020(2). A “qualified interpreter” is 

a person who is able to interpret or translate spoken and written English 

for non-English-speaking persons and to interpret or translate oral or 

written statements of non-English-speaking persons into spoken English. 

RCW 2.43.020(5). 
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is otherwise compelled by an appointing authority to 

appear at a legal proceeding, the appointing authority 

shall use the services of only those language 

interpreters who have been certified by the 

administrative office of the courts, unless good cause is 

found and noted on the record by the appointing 

authority. For purposes of chapter 358, Laws of 1989, 

“good cause” includes but is not limited to a 

determination that: 

 

(i) Given the totality of the circumstances, including the 

nature of the proceeding and the potential penalty or 

consequences involved, the services of a certified 

interpreter are not reasonably available to the 

appointing authority; or 

 

(ii) The current list of certified interpreters maintained by 

the administrative office of the courts does not include 

an interpreter certified in the language spoken by the 

non-English-speaking person. 

 

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this section, when a 

non-English-speaking person is involved in a legal 

proceeding, the appointing authority shall appoint a 

qualified interpreter.

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